FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
12/5/2022 2:21 PM
COA No. 55314-7-II

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/6/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101518-6 SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TED SPICE, an individual; PAVEL PASYUK, an individual, and PLEXUS INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioner,

v.

ESTATE OF DORIS MATHEWS, a Washington Estate; DONNA DUBOIS, as Personal Representative of the Estate; MARK DUBOIS, a purported agent of the Estate; DORIS ELAINE MATHEWS LIVING TRUST, a Washington trust,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Ian C. Cairns WSBA No. 43210

I. INTRODUCTION

Despite obtaining two reversals by the Court of Appeals of the trial court's dismissal of his claims, petitioner Ted Spice has yet to have his day in court on his claims that respondents, the Estate of Doris Mathews and Donna and Mark Dubois, committed waste by allowing the parties' jointly owned properties to fall into total disrepair. On remand, the trial court refused to require the Estate's personal representative, Ms. Dubois, to appear and testify at trial because, although she was listed on every witness list filed in this case, she did not receive a formal notice to attend trial under CR 43(f)(1).

The trial court then again dismissed Mr. Spice's claims as a matter of law after he was forced to rest his case without questioning Ms. Dubois on key issues, such as when she learned of water leaks that rendered the parties' property untenantable. The Court of Appeals affirmed, rejecting Mr. Spice's arguments that he substantially

complied with CR 43(f)(1) and that the trial court erred in refusing to consider the factors from *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance*, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997) before precluding the examination of Ms. Dubois who—by the Estate's own admission—was ready to testify.

The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's precedent, as well as its own, and raises issues of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4). This Court should grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and remand for a trial at which Mr. Spice may fairly present his case.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals' August 2, 2022, decision, is attached as Appendix A and cited as "Op. ___." The Court of Appeals amended its decision on October 18, 2022, to correct a scrivener's error (App. B) and on November 7, 2022, denied Mr. Spice's timely motion for reconsideration

and publication, and a motion for reconsideration filed by respondents. (App. C-D)

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. CR 43(f)(1) and CR 30(b)(1) provide that a party seeking to examine an adverse party at trial need only provide "reasonable notice in writing" stating "the time and place for taking" their testimony. Did the Court of Appeals erroneously interpret CR 43(f)(1) as requiring notice that a party may be held in contempt if they do not testify at trial?
- 2. A party substantially complies with a procedural notice requirement when they provide actual notice and the opposing party is not prejudiced. *See, e.g., Continental Sports Corp. v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 128 Wn.2d 594, 910 P.2d 1284 (1996). Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Mr. Spice did not substantially comply with CR 43(f)(1) even though he gave the Estate actual notice he intended to call Ms. Dubois as a witness and the Estate was not prejudiced by the alleged lack of notice, as

confirmed by its own statement Ms. Dubois was ready to testify?

3. "[T]rial courts must consider the factors from *Burnet*... before excluding untimely disclosed evidence," including witnesses. *Keck v. Collins*, 184 Wn.2d 358, 368, ¶ 24, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).¹ Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's refusal to require that the primary defendant testify at trial on the basis of an untimely CR 43(f)(1) notice without considering the *Burnet* factors?

¹Those factors are 1) whether a lesser sanction would suffice, 2) whether the untimely disclosure was willful or deliberate, and 3) whether the untimely disclosure substantially prejudiced the opposing party. *Burnet*, 131 Wn.2d at 494.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Court of Appeals twice reversed the dismissal of Mr. Spice's waste claims against the Estate of Doris Mathews alleging it negligently maintained the parties' jointly owned property.

This dispute between Mr. Spice and the Estate of Doris Mathews, his deceased business partner, has a long history, generating four appellate decisions. *See Spice v. Dubois*, 192 Wn. App. 1054, 2016 WL 899914 (2016) ("*Spice I*"); *Spice v. Estate of Mathews*, 1 Wn. App.2d 1040, 2017 WL 6337457 (2017) ("*Spice II*"); *Spice v. Estate of Mathews*, 10 Wn. App.2d 1043, 2019 WL 5172379 (2019) ("*Spice III*"); *Spice v. Estate of Mathews*, 23 Wn. App.2d 1001, 2022 WL 3043207 (as amended October 18, 2022) ("*Spice IV*," cited as "Op.").

Spice I arose from a 2012 jury trial awarding Mr. Spice a 25% interest and Ms. Mathews a 75% interest in a four-acre parcel in Puyallup, Washington. (Op. at *1) This parcel, referred to as "11003 58th St.," contains two rental

properties—a triplex at 11003 58th Street Court East and a home at 11007 58th Street Court East. (Op. at *1)²

After the 2012 trial, litigation continued in the probate of Ms. Mathews' Estate.³ Although Mr. Spice had, since 2003, helped managed the triplex and 11007 home (RP 200), in March 2012 the probate court, at the Estate's request, enjoined Mr. Spice from having any involvement in the properties' management, which left him "entirely reliant on the Estate's supervision of the properties." *Spice II*, at *6.

Both rental properties had tenants prior to March 2012 (RP 298-99), but by the summer of 2013 they were vacant. (RP 231-32, 237-41) The last tenants were evicted

² 11003 58th St. includes two other homes at 11004 and 11011 58th Street Court East that were not the focus of the proceedings below. (Op. at *1)

³ Except for his first lawsuit, Mr. Spice's lawsuits against the Estate were consolidated into the probate action. (Op. at *2-3)

from the triplex in July 2013 after withholding rent because the Estate failed to repair a water leak. (RP 231-32, 237-41) Ultimately, water damage at both properties, including a year's worth of black mold growth at the triplex, rendered the properties untenantable. (RP 232-35; Ex. P102A; see also Ex. P87 (October 2013 email chain forwarding to Mark Dubois a contractor's report that there "is so much damage and we can't tell right now where the water damage is coming from")) In addition to years of lost rent (\$3,500/month), the damage reduced the properties' equity by over \$400,000. (RP 299, 327)

Mr. Spice brought claims against the Estate alleging it negligently allowed waste to occur. (CP 409-28, 792-99) The probate court twice dismissed these claims on summary judgment. Division Two reversed both times. *Spice II*, at *6-7; *Spice III*, at *12. *Spice III* also reversed the dismissal of Mr. Spice's claim alleging that the personal representative of the Estate, Ms. Mathews' daughter

Donna Dubois, fraudulently transferred the jointly owned properties without his consent (or even knowledge) and in violation of an order restraining the transfer of the properties without court approval. *Spice III*, at *13.4

B. On remand, the trial court again dismissed Mr. Spice's waste claims as a matter of law after refusing to require that the Estate's personal representative appear and testify at trial because she purportedly did not have notice she would be called as a witness.

This fourth appeal arose following the trial ordered in *Spice II* and *Spice III*. On remand, the trial court limited Mr. Spice's waste claims to two discrete allegations of waste: 1) a burst water pipe in the triplex and 2) Ms. Dubois's failure to sign an insurance check issued after a

⁴The Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of other claims brought by Mr. Spice. *See Spice II*, at *1, 5; *Spice III*, at *1, 12, 14.

fire damaged one of the jointly owned properties. (CP 4291-92; see also Spice II, at *2; Spice III, at *12)⁵

Mr. Spice presented his case in a four-day bench trial beginning October 1, 2020, with some of the parties and witnesses appearing or testifying remotely pursuant to Covid-19 protocols. (*See* 10/01 RP 5; RP 4, 137, 293)⁶ Mr. Spice identified Ms. Dubois on his witness list (CP 4651) and, on October 2, asked the Estate to confirm her availability to testify on the second day of trial, October 5. (CP 5580)⁷ The Estate objected that "notice wasn't given as

⁵ The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Spice's argument that the trial court violated the mandates of *Spice II* and *Spice III* in limiting the scope of his claims and excluding other elements of damage Mr. Spice sought in his complaints, including unpaid property taxes, insurance, and utilities, as well as fees relating to mortgage defaults. (*See* Op. at *6-7; *see also* App. Br. 20-25; Reply Br. 8-11)

⁶ The pagination of the trial transcripts resets after the first day, October 1. The October 1 transcript is cited as "10/01 RP"; other transcripts are cited as "RP".

⁷ No trial proceedings were held on Friday October 2 because Mr. Spice just had surgery. (RP 75)

require[d] by CR 43 and CR 30(b)(1)," but added "[s]he'll likely be available after lunch" and thus Mr. Spice should "start with one of [his] other witnesses and then we can have her testify after lunch." (CP 5580)

In a subsequent email sent on the morning of October 5, the Estate told Mr. Spice that Ms. Dubois "is ready this morning." (CP 5580) By that time, however, Mr. Spice had arranged for other witnesses to testify, as the Estate suggested. (RP 197) When Mr. Spice asked to call Ms. Dubois as a witness on October 6, the Estate's counsel told Mr. Spice he would "inquire and see if she's available." (RP 164) When the Estate's counsel was unable to reach her, Mr. Spice began his own testimony instead. (RP 195, 198)

At the end of the day on October 6, after Mr. Spice reiterated "we do intend to call Ms. Dubois," the Estate objected, claiming she was unaware of the "date, time, and place to appear" because she was "never given notice for her attendance at trial." (RP 285) The trial court then ruled it would not require Ms. Dubois to appear as a witness either remotely or in-person because, although she was listed on both parties' witness lists, Mr. Spice did not serve her with a notice to attend trial under CR 43(f)(1). (RP 365-68; see also CP 1552, 1558, 4037, 4245, 4651, 4775)

As a result, Mr. Spice was forced to rest his case without examining Ms. Dubois. In an offer of proof, Mr. Spice explained that, among other things, he would have examined Ms. Dubois "regarding her actions in managing the property, . . . the actions in . . . choosing not to repair the water damage, choosing not to put a tenancy into the two water-damaged apartments." (RP 368-69)

The trial court then granted the Estate's motion to dismiss Mr. Spice's claims, entering judgment as a matter of law under CR 41(b)(3) and CR 50. (RP 391-97, 424; CP 5038-57) The trial court reasoned Mr. Spice failed to present any evidence why the property "wasn't leased

again" or that Ms. Dubois "had the means to fix the property, having learned of the issue of the burst pipe and failed to do so," and explained that if he had "I would find that the plaintiff has made out a case here." (RP 424)

C. The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding Mr. Spice did not substantially comply with CR 43(f)(1) and that the factors from *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance* do not apply to a ruling preventing the examination of a party based on a violation of CR 43(f)(1).

The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding Mr. Spice did not substantially comply with CR 43(f)(1) and rejecting his argument that the trial court was required to address the *Burnet* factors prior to dismissal, holding "*Burnet* simply does not apply here." (Op. at *8-9) The Court of Appeals held that a witness list cannot satisfy the notice requirements of CR 43(f)(1) because it "does not notify th[e] witness that if they fail to attend the hearing there is the danger of being held in contempt." (Op. at *8) The Court of Appeals further held "there was no reason to

consider the *Burnet* factors" because "[t]he trial court was not considering whether to exclude DuBois, but rather was considering whether it had the authority to compel DuBois to testify using the threat of judgment or finding her in contempt." (Op. at *9)

V. REASONS THE COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. The Court of Appeals' decision erroneously interpreted CR 43(f)(1) to require notice of the consequences of failing to appear and testify.

The Court of Appeals' decision is the only Washington case, published or unpublished, that addresses the necessary content of a notice to attend trial under CR 43(f)(1).8 CR 43 does not require notice that a

⁸ As the Court of Appeals recently observed, "There is no relevant published case law regarding CR 43(f) notices to attend trial." *Williams v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, No. 56240-5-II, 2022 WL 14309083, at *5 (Oct. 25, 2022) (cited per GR 14.1). *Williams* addressed whether the trial court erred in quashing a notice to attend trial, 2022 WL 14309083, at *5-6, not the required content of a notice to attend trial.

party may be held in contempt if they do not testify. Rather, it only requires written notice from one party to the other that they may be called as a witness at trial. The Court of Appeals' misinterpretation of CR 43(f)(1) raises an issue of substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Under CR 43(f)(1), "[a] party... may be examined at the instance of any adverse party"; "[a]ttendance of such deponent or witness may be compelled solely by notice (in lieu of a subpoena) given in the manner prescribed in rule 30(b)(1) to opposing counsel of record." CR 30(b)(1) requires "reasonable notice in writing" stating "the time and place for taking" testimony and CR 43(f)(1) further states that "[n]otices for the attendance of a party... at the trial shall be given not less than 10 days before trial."

The Court of Appeals erred in refusing to interpret CR 43(f)(1) in accordance with its plain language. *State v. Walker*, 199 Wn.2d 796, 800, \P 8, 513 P.3d 111 (2022) ("We

interpret court rules in the same manner as statutes, beginning with the plain language of the rule."). The plain language of CR 43(f)(1) contains no requirement that a party give the opposing party notice of the potential consequences of failing to attend trial, *e.g.*, contempt, as the Court of Appeals held. (*See* Op. at *8) Incorporating CR 30(b)(1), CR 43(f)(1) simply requires "reasonable notice in writing" stating "the time and place for taking" testimony, *i.e.*, the trial. Moreover, CR 30(b)(1) provides that a failure to give the required notice "shall *not* constitute grounds for quashing the subpoena" underscoring that notice of potential consequences is not a prerequisite to examining an opposing party. (emphasis added)

When this Court or the Legislature intends to mandate the inclusion of language explaining the consequences for non-compliance, they state so clearly and directly. See, e.g., CR 4(b)(1)(iii) (requiring "notice that, in case of failure [to file an answer], judgment will be

rendered against the defendant by default"); RCW 61.24.031(1)(c)(i) (deed of trust statute requiring an initial contact letter to a borrower in default to state "IF YOU DO NOT RESPOND within thirty days, a notice of default may be issued and you may lose your home in foreclosure.").

The Court of Appeals' decision also overlooks the history and the purpose of CR 43(f). Under the previous version of the rule, nonresident defendants, particularly corporations, routinely argued they were beyond a Washington court's subpoena power and thus could not be compelled to testify at trial. See Campbell v. A. H. Robins Co., 32 Wn. App. 98, 101, 645 P.2d 1138, rev. denied, 97 Wn.2d 1037 (1982). CR 43(f) is intended to eliminate this argument by relying not on the subpoena power, but "on the power of the court over the parties to the action, and the expectation that a party faced with sanctions will exercise its own power over its managing agents." Campbell, 32 Wn. App. at 107. CR 43(f) was thus intended to make it *easier*, not harder, to call the opposing party as a witness.

As the only case addressing the required content of a notice to attend trial, the Court of Appeals' decision, if left unreviewed, will have potentially sweeping impact and misguide parties and their counsel preparing for trials in Washington courts. The Court of Appeals' erroneous interpretation of CR 43(f) raises an issue of substantial public interest warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

B. The Court of Appeals' refusal to find substantial compliance with CR 43(f) conflicts with Washington precedent and raises an issue of substantial public interest.

Mr. Spice substantially complied with CR 43 because he undisputedly gave the Estate actual notice that he intended to call Ms. Dubois as a witness and the Estate was not prejudiced by the alleged lack of notice, as confirmed by its own statement Ms. Dubois was "ready" to testify on the second day of trial. The Court of Appeals' refusal to find

substantial compliance conflicts with Washington precedent and raises an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4).

This Court defines substantial compliance "as actual compliance in respect to the substance essential to every reasonable objective of" a statute or rule. Crosby v. Cnty. of Spokane, 137 Wn.2d 296, 301, 971 P.2d 32 (1999) (quoting Cont'l Sports Corp. v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 128 Wn.2d 594, 602, 910 P.2d 1284 (1996)). The doctrine of substantial compliance recognizes that "the purpose of the civil rules is to place substance over form to the end that cases be resolved on the merits." Crosby, 137 Wn.2d at 303; see also Application of Santore, 28 Wn. App. 319, 328-29, 623 P.2d 702 (1981) (courts should not construe compliance in a manner that "leads to a sacrifice of substance to form"; quoting Whitney v. Knowlton, 33 Wash. 319, 322-23, 74 P. 469 (1903).

Where the intent of a procedural requirement is to provide notice, courts determine whether substantial compliance exists by asking whether (1) actual notice was provided or (2) notice was attempted in a manner reasonably calculated to give notice. *Wilson v. Olivetti N. Am., Inc.*, 85 Wn. App. 804, 810, 934 P.2d 1231 (citing *In re Saltis*, 94 Wn.2d 889, 896, 621 P.2d 716 (1980)), *rev. denied*, 133 Wn.2d 1017 (1997). Courts also consider whether an opposing party has been prejudiced in evaluating substantial compliance. *Wilson*, 85 Wn. App. at 810.

For example, in *Continental Sports*, this Court held that sending a notice of appeal via Federal Express substantially complied with the requirement in RCW 51.48.131 to send the notice of appeal "by mail" because the respondent "was in as good a position as it would have been had the notice of appeal been sent" via the United States Postal Service. 128 Wn.2d at 604. Similarly, in *Wilson*,

Division Three held the plaintiff substantially complied with the requirements for demanding a jury under CR 38 and the local rules despite failing to serve the demand on the defendant. 85 Wn. App. at 810. Division Three reasoned that the defendant "was not prejudiced significantly by the violation because it had actual knowledge of the jury trial demand" and that defendant's "insistence on strict compliance ... exalts form over substance." 85 Wn. App. 810; see also Williamson, Inc. v. Calibre Homes, Inc., 147 Wn.2d 394, 403, 54 P.3d 1186 (2002) ("[Defendant] does not, and cannot, argue it was prejudiced"; holding corporation substantially complied with real estate brokers and salespersons act, chapter 18.85 RCW); Santore, 28 Wn. App. at 329 ("the failure to file the sworn statement in a timely manner resulted in no holding adopting prejudice": parents substantially complied with adoption statutes).

Here, Mr. Spice substantially complied with CR 43(f)(1) because he undisputedly provided the Estate actual notice that he intended to call Ms. Dubois as a witness. Mr. Spice filed his first witness list in 2015 and it—as well as every subsequent list he filed—included Ms. Dubois as a witness. (CP 1552, 4651, 4776) The Estate thus knew for *years* that Mr. Spice intended to examine Ms. Dubois at trial. In addition to his witness lists, in his third amended complaint—filed weeks before trial—Mr. Spice informed the Estate that "Donna DuBois . . . is a necessary and indispensable party to this action and *no trial* or other matters can proceed *in her absence*." (CP 4628 (emphasis added))

Indeed, the Estate has never disputed it knew Mr. Spice intended to examine Ms. Dubois. And the record

⁹ Local rules commonly require parties to exchange witness lists as the means of disclosing witnesses. *See, e.g., Jones v. City of Seattle,* 179 Wn.2d 322, 314 P.3d 380 (2013); PCLR 16(b)(2).

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