FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/4/2023 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK Sun

Supreme Court No. 1015186- Estate of Doris E. Mathews Court of Appeals No. 553147-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TED SPICE, an individual, PAVEL PASYUK, an individual, and PLEXUS INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Washington limited liability company

Petitioner

v.

ESTATE OF DORIS MATHEWS, a Washington Estate; DONNA DUBOIS, as Personal Representative of the Estate; MARK DUBOIS, a purported agent of the Estate; DORIS ELAINE MATHEWS LIVING TRUST, a Washington Trust,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

received less than fair market value for his interest in the 11003 Property." *Id*.

"Mr. Spice's requests for damages and remedies were based upon speculation, irrelevant evidence, irrational understanding of the law and facts, frivolous arguments not well grounded in fact or law, and evidence and testimony that was not credible." *CP 5050*.

Among other findings, the trial court found that Mr. Spice had "grandiose ideas" about the value of his alleged lost development rights of "\$78 million, which was just preposterous. Just preposterous." *RP 430*. Mr. Spice was ultimately unsuccessful at trial not because an opposing party did not give testimony to somehow 'make his case,' but due to his case being without merit, which was found throughout the trial court's decision. "Mr. Spice was not credible or persuasive as a witness, and his testimony was largely unbelievable." *CP 5046*.

Credibility issues were found with other witnesses called by Mr. Spice. For example, Mr. Peet was called to try an identify alleged legal violations by the Estate. The trial court found, "Mr. Peet's testimony was based upon fundamental and incorrect understandings of the law and facts... [it] was not credible, helpful, or reliable." *CP 5048*.

Another witness, Mr. Riley, who the court found was not timely disclosed as a witness, was allowed to testify about "alleged damages due what Mr. Spice perceived as lost development rights... and a wage claim." *CP 5050*. The trial court found that "Mr. Riley's testimony was no credible, helpful, or reliable." *CP 5051*.

Mr. Spice called another witness, Ms. Drury, who the trial court allowed to testify despite not being timely disclosed as a witness, to try and establish damages. During her testimony, it was discovered that the documents she was relying on were not included with the trial exhibits. Mr. Spice's attorney stated that the documents were intentionally

removed by Mr. Spice, "We tried to truncate what is apparently a thousand-page report to what - to what we thought was relevant at the time." RP. 185. Upon further questioning by the trial court, it was discovered that Mr. Spice apparently added documents that were not part of the final report. RP 189-190. Mr. Spice's attorney stated, "It was simply our attempt to try and reduce a 1,200-page document which has far more information that is either not relevant or has been dismissed, and it was our attempt --- once again, it was difficult for us to anticipate at every moment in this litigation where we would end up in trial today, and so we did our best to assemble what we had hoped would be relevant to remove a thousand pages of stuff that the court didn't need to filter through." RP 192-193. The trial court found that "Ms. Drury did not offer any testimony that was relevant, helpful or reliable." *CP 5052*.

5. <u>Court of Appeals Decision</u> The Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion on August 2, 2022, amended

October 18, 2022, to correct a scrivener's error, affirming the decision of the trial court. *Appendix A, Petition for Review* (cited hereinafter as "Op.____"). Mr. Spice's Motion for Reconsideration was also denied.

C. ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND REASONS THE COURT SHOULD NOT ACCEPT REVIEW

1. The trial court and Court of Appeals correctly interpreted CR 43(f)(1).

CR 43(f)(1) provides that a party may compel the managing agent of the opposing party to attend the trial "solely by notice (in lieu of a subpoena) given in the manner prescribed in rule 30(b)(1) to opposing counsel of record." "CR 43(f)(1) does not expand the subpoena power of a Washington court." *Campbell v. A.H. Robins Co., Inc,* 645 P.2s 1138, 32 Wn. App 98, 100 (1982). "The notice shall state the time and place for taking the deposition and the name and address of each person to be examined, if known, and, if the name is not known, a general description sufficient to identify the deponent or the particular class or group to which the deponent belongs." *CR* 30(b)(1), underlining added. The use of the word "shall" is an imperative command, indicating that the action is mandatory and not permissive. *See State v. Martin,* 137 Wn.2d 149, 155

(1998), "us of 'may' and 'shall' in the statute indicates that the Legislature intended the two words to have different meanings: 'may' being directory, while 'shall' being mandatory."

The "compulsory' power of a CR 43(f) notice to appear depends rather on the power of the court over the parties to the action, and the expectation that a party faced with sanctions will exercise its own power over its managing agents." *Campbell at 107*. The power to sanction cannot be exercised if no notice to attend was ever given. The compulsory power is significant, a court may strike the answer and enter judgment against the defendant, and face proceedings as in other cases of contempt. $CR \ 43(f)(3)$.

The first time Mr. Spice attempted to call Ms. DuBois to testify was after trial already commenced. *RP 286-289; 364*. Because of the potential drastic sanctions if Ms. DuBois did not testify if compelled, efforts were made to make Ms. DuBois available one afternoon of trial. As the Court of Appeals found, "The Estate responded [to an email request of Mr. Spice's attorney stating he planned to call Ms. DuBois to testify on the next trial date] that DuBois was not available on October 5 due to a medical appointment and that Spice had failed to provide notice as required by CR 43 and CR 30(b)(1). The Estate, however, conveyed that DuBois would 'likely be available after lunch' and that 'we can have her testify after lunch assuming

she is done with the appointment and physically able. Even so, Spice did not call DuBois on that date." *CP at 5580; Op. at 10.* Thereafter, Ms. DuBois was not available and she was not present during almost all of the trial due to medical issues, and efforts to reach her were unsuccessful. *RP (Oct. 6, 2020) at 164; Op. at 10.*

After allowing Mr. Spice to argue whether the trial court had authority to compel Ms. DuBois to testify, the court found "I can't compel her to attend trial... She didn't receive the notice to attend trial nor was she subpoenaed." *RP (Oct. 6, 2020) at 196, 286.*

Mr. Spice admission at trial that he failed to serve either a subpoena or notice to attend trial is dispositive of his Petition for Review. It was his decision not to provide the requisite notice to compel a witness to testify. There is nothing novel or unique about issuing a subpoena/notice to compel witnesses to testify. Mr. Spice is not entitled to a new trial due to his failure to issue the requisite notice.

2. There cannot be substantial compliance when there is noncompliance.

Mr. Spice argues that the trial court had authority to compel testimony because he "substantially complied with Rule 43 and 30(b)(1)" by sending an email after trial already commenced and listing Ms. DuBois on a witness list. *RP (Oct. 7, 2020) at 364.* Mr. Spice's attempt to rely on a Pierce County Superior Court local rule for witness disclosure is not a substitute for a subpoena under the Civil Rules. The local rule provides:

PCLR 26 Discovery: Disclosure of possible lay and expert witnesses. ... (b) Disclosure of Primary Witnesses. Each party shall, not later than the date for disclosure designated in the Order Setting Case Schedule, disclose all persons with relevant factual or expert knowledge whom the party reserves the option to call as witnesses at trial.

A witness list is not a "notice" but rather a "disclosure" identifying "possible" witnesses a party "reserves the option to call". That disclosure does not compel attendance. Who a

party "reserves the option to call" and who they "actually" call are two entirely different decisions and subject to different rules. A witness list does not satisfy the notice requirement under CR 43.

The Court of Appeals appropriately found that, "Substantial compliance 'has been defined as actual compliance in respect to the substance essential to every reasonable objective of [a] statute." Williamson, Inc. v. Calibre Homes, Inc. 147 Wn.2d 394, 406, 54 P.3d 1186 (2002)) (quoting In re Habeas Corpus of Santore, 28 WN. App. 319, 327, 623 P.2d 702 (1981)). In cases of substantial compliance, there was actual compliance, albeit procedurally faulty. Williamson, Inc. 147 Wn.2d at 406. But the "failure to comply (through inaction, inadvertence, or in a manner which does not fulfill the objective of the statute), or belated compliance, cannot constitute substantial compliance." Clymer v. Emp. Sec. Dep't, 82 Wn. App. 25, 29, 917 P.2d (1996). "Noncompliance with a statutory mandate is not substantial compliance." Id. (quoting Petta v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 68 Wn. App. 406, 407, 409-10, 842 P.2d 1006 (1992))." Mr. Spice "never even attempted to notify DuBois under CR 43." Op. at 17.

An email after trial commences and a witness list do not constitute "substantial compliance", nor does CR 43 allow for substantial compliance. As the Court of Appeals found, "a witness list merely serves to notify the other party who you may call to testify." Op. at 17. Mr. Spice's failure to give notice was willful. A "party's failure to comply with a court order will be deemed willful if it occurs without reasonable justification." Jones v. Seattle, 179 Wash.2d 322, 314 P.3d 380, 391 (2014). Mr. Spice offers no justification for his failure to comply with the Civil Rules. Even if there was error by the trial court, it was harmless as Mr. Spice was given an opportunity to present evidence to support his various claims of alleged wrongdoing by Ms. DuBois.

The failure to provide notice would have led to significant prejudice to Ms. DuBois had she been compelled to

testify. First, she physically may not have been able to testify due to health and scheduling issues. Further, notice under CR 43(f)(1) commences critical time limitations in which a protective order can be sought, including an order that might limit the scope or subject matter of examination under CR 30. That right is important given the significant litigation and appellate history by Mr. Spice against the Respondents. To compel testimony under threat of significant penalties, without notice, is contrary to the explicit rights given to the party whose testimony is sought.

The notice also assists a party in trial preparation, including testimony preparation (reviewing dates, exhibits, and other matters) by giving at least ten days' notice of their expected testimony. Because Mr. Spice did not serve the CR 43 notice or a subpoena, critical trial preparation did not occur because it was understood Ms. DuBois was not being called to testify by him and the Respondents relied on the lack of notice as part of its trial preparation efforts.

The failure of providing the date and time at which Ms. DuBois was expected to testify is also crucial. Ms. DuBois was out of state during trial and experiencing health issues such that she was unable to attend most of the trial even though it was broadcast via Zoom. Further, had notice been given, a decision could have been made to have Ms. DuBois testify in person rather than over a Zoom link. Because of the Zoom link, the notice was also necessary for arranging distribution of trial exhibits to witnesses testifying remotely.

The consequences of failing to comply with a proper CR 43 notice are far too serious to allow a witness disclosure to suffice as "substantial compliance". Had Ms. DuBois been compelled to testify, the Respondents would have been substantially prejudiced.

3. The *Burnet* factors are not applicable.

The *Burnet* factors do not apply since the trial court was not excluding evidence or testimony for any reason, such as a discovery violation, some untimely response under CR 37, or

Ambulance, 131 Wash.2d 484, 513, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997). Rather, the trial court appropriately refused to compel testimony by issuing penalties because it did not have authority to do so. The Court of Appeals appropriately found, "The trial court was not considering whether to exclude DuBois, but rather was considering whether it had the authority to compel DuBois to testify using the threat of judgment or finding her in contempt. *Burnet* simply does not apply here." *Op. at 18*.

It was not the trial court that stopped Mr. Spice from seeking testimony from Ms. DuBois; rather, it was Mr. Spice's failure to give notice that prevented the trial court from having authority to compel Ms. DuBois to testify. Under Mr. Spice's argument, if he failed to subpoena a witness and a trial court did not compel that witness to testify despite that failure; then, a court should find reversible error. There is no legal authority to support that drastic result.

Mr. Spice's argument that the exclusion is the same as in *Keck, Jones* and *ADA Motors* is without merit. In those cases, the witnesses were apparently prepared and willing to testify, and the issue was failure to comply with disclosure requirements, not failure to issue a proper notice or subpoena.

Even if *Burnett* applied, the willful or "other unconscionable" failure to give notice results in substantial prejudice to Respondents as discussed above. The trial court considered these factors in substantial discussion with counsel about what authority it had under CR 43, Mr. Spice's failure to give notice, additional delay to a trial after prior continuances were given, and the anticipated testimony Mr. Spice expected to obtain from Ms. DuBois. *RP 364-370*. As such, even if *Burnett* applied, the trial court considered the relevant factors before it elected not to compel testimony.

4. The Petition for Review does not meet the standards required by RAP 13.4(b).

Mr. Spice's Petition to this Court ignores an undisputed fact: he did not give any notice to compel attendance of a witness for trial, and now wants that to be the basis for a new trial. His intentional conduct does not meet the standards for review required by RAP 13.4(b), "(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

Mr. Spice's Petition to this Court is entirely personal and raises no issues under RAP 13.4(b). Rather, the Petition is an effort to reverse a trial decision that resulted in dismissal of all his claims, a Court of Appeal decision affirming the trial court,

and denial of his request for reconsideration by the Court of Appeals, all so that he can obtain a new trial based upon his own decision not to compel attendance of a witness. Such a result would result in substantial prejudice to the Estate and Respondents which have been engaged in nearly constant litigation by Spice for nearly thirteen years.

5. This Court should award attorneys fees and costs to the Respondents.

Respondents requests an award of attorneys fees and costs as allowed by RAP Title 18.1. RCW 11.96A.150 provides in part, "any court on an appeal may, in its discretion, order costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, to be awarded to any party... The court may order the costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees, to be paid in such amount and in such manner as the court determines to be equitable. In exercising its discretion under this section, the court may consider any and all factors that it deems to be relevant and appropriate".

Respondents have successfully defended against the claims by Mr. Spice. This litigation has resulted in substantial fees and costs that would not have been incurred if Mr. Spice had not brought his unsuccessful claims. An award of attorneys fees in favor of the Respondents is appropriate.

E. CONCLUSION

Civil Rule 1 provides that the civil rules "shall be construed and administered to secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action." "Litigation is not intended to be a life-long activity with litigants returning endlessly to our courts." *Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wash.2d 484, 513, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997), dissent.*

Mr. Spice has been endlessly litigating this matter since shortly after the death of Ms. Mathews on December 8, 2009, and he has been fully heard after summary judgments, two trials, and now four appeals. The Court should deny the Petition for Review and award attorneys fees and costs to the Respondents.

I certify this Answer is in 14 point Times New Roman font and contains 4,561 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).